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. UNITED STATES' ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY . '

BEFORE THE ADMINISTRATOR

In the Matter of

Lackland Training Annex

Docket No. RCRA VI-311-H
Ssan Antonio, Texas " . :

Respohdent

ORDER DENYING REQUEST FOR. CERTIFICATION
Of INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL

Under date of May 23, 1995, Respondent, Lackland
Training Annex (Lackland), served a motion for.certificétion of
inteflocutdry appeal pﬁrsuant to Rule 22;29_of the Consolidated -
. Rules of Practice (40 C.F.R. Part 22) of the ordef, dated May 12,
1995, which, inter alia, denied Lackland's motion that Complainant
be found in default and granted CQmplainantE; motion for an
accelerated decisidn ~as to liabilityQ Complainant has not
responded to the motion. For the reasons hereinafter appearing,
the motion will be denied. | |
Lackland operated an open burning/open detonation (OB/OD)
unit for thermal treatment of waste milifary munitions near the
Lackland Air Force Base from 1982 until 1992. Lackiand‘wés”found
to have violated section-3005(a) of the Resource éonservation.and
Recovery'Act (RCRA) , 42 Uis.c. §'692$(a); and Title 31 of the Teias
Administrative Code, sectioﬁ.35§.43(a), by_operating a hazardous
waste éreatment unit without a permit and'without'interim status,

‘ as charged in the complaint. The complaint, issued under section



_ T2

3008 (a) of-RCRA, proposed to assess a penalty of $346,500 for.the
violations. | |

Lackland has.requested that all adverse rulings in the ’
May 12 order be certified for inteflocutory,appeal to the EAB.
while Lackland recites that the ruiings invdlvé important questions_
of law or.policy'upon which there are substantial grounds for
differénce of opinion, and that an.immediate appeal will materially
advance the ﬁltimaﬁe termination of the proceeding, it has not
advahced any new or independent groﬁnds for the motion. Ingtead,
Lackland merely rélies‘on the arguments submitted in support of its

motions, which were denied in the May 12 order.

DISCUSSTION

Rule 22.29 of the Consolidated Rules of Practice,

entitled “Appeal from or review of interlocutory orders and

‘rulings”, provides in pertinent part:

(a) Request for interlocutory appeal. . Appeals from
other orders or rullngs shall lie only 1f the Presiding

Officer . . . upoh motion of a party, certifies such
orders or rulings to the Environmental Appeals Board on
appeal. Requests for such certification shall be filed
in writing within six (6) days of notice of the ruling or
service of the order, and shall state briefly the grounds
to be relied upon on appeal.
(b) Availabi interlocutory eal. The Presiding
Officer may certlfy any rullng for appeal to the
Environmental Appeals Board when
(1) the order or ruling involves an 1mportant question of
law or policy concerning which there is substantlal
grounds for difference of opinion, and :
- (2) either (i) an immediate appeal from the order or
ruling will materially advance the ultimate termination
of the proceeding, or (ii) review after the final order
is 1ssued will be inadequate or ineffective.
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The rulings upon which Lackland requests certification
do not meet these criteria. Each ruling' will be considered

separately.

1. Motion to Dismiss for Default‘and Request to Delay Prehearing
Exchange (Parts I and II of Order) -

Lackland’s motion to dismiss because.of cOmblainént’s
technic#l default in failing to ti@ely file a préhearing exchange
was denied as a matter within the ALJ’s discretion. The
Consolidatéd Rules of Praétice provide that "[a] party may be found
in default . . . after motion or sua spbnte, upon failure to comply
with a‘prehearing or heé;ing.order of the Presiéing Officér." Rule
22.17(a) (emphésis added) . Altﬁgﬁgh there is no doubt that
Complainant as well avaackland may be found in default, it is well
settled that the law favors resolution of disputes on their merits
and that forfeitures are hop favored. Wright, Millar & Kane,
Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil 2d §§ 2681-85, pp. 398-429.
See also In re Thoro Products Co., (CERCLA /EPCRA) Docket No. EPCRA
VIII-90-94 (Order Denying Motion For Default Judgment, etc.,
March 6, 1991) and cases cited. A party will not ordinarily'be
foun@ in default where the alleged default has been curedland no
prejudice has been élleged or shown. ig re General Electric
Company, Docket No. 'TSCAéiV-89-0016 (Order 'Denying Motion For
Default Order, March 5, 1990); | '

In its request for certification, Lackland reiterates
tﬁat "Complainant still/ has not compl,ied With the Pre-Hearing

Exchange Order," and cites its previous pleadings on the issue.
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Lackland argued that EPA did not file thé narrative portion of its
proposed penalty calculation, and thus did not comply with the
direction in the prehearing exchange order to submit an explénation
of the reasoning behind the probosed penalty. 1In its prehearing.
exchange, EPA submitted a pénaltylcalculation worksheét. Lackland
argues that it contains a flaw, and does not reflect the amendments
to\the complaint, changing the dllegatibn of "treat{hg hazardous
wasté without a permit or interim status" to "operatihq é hazardous
waste.management_unit without a permit or interim status," although
the penalty amouﬁt is the‘ same in the origiﬁal and - amended
compiaints.

EPA also submitted an eight page rationalization of how
it arrived at the proposed penalty, whiCh Lackland asserts is
insufficient because it is “post hoc." That is, itfwas‘apparently
not developed contemporaneously with the calculaﬁion of the
proposed penalty in the original complaint.

~ In the letter, dated January 25, 1994, directing the
prehearing exchange, Complainant was required to submit a copy of
"the civil penalty computation worksheet and a statement conforming
to 40 C.F.R. § 22.14(a) (5), explaining the reasoning behind the
proposed penalty. The documents EPA has submitted appear on their
face to comply'vwith the directioﬁ- in the <pfehearing exchange
letter. .fhe Consolidated Rﬁles of Practice, set forth generally

the documents required to be submitted in a prehearing exchange as

follows:
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coples of all documents and exhibits which each party

intends to introduce into evidence . . . . Documents -

that have not been exchanged . . . shall not be

introduced into evidence . . . without the permission of

the Presiding Officer. The Presiding Officer shall allow

the parties reasonable opportunity to review new

evidence. - '
40 C.F.R. § 22.19(b). This provision is satisfied when documents
are submitted which meet»éach requirement of the prehearing\ordef.
Any discrepancies, inadequacies, or incompleteness within such
documents are curable, such as by motion forr"othér discovery,
‘ under 40 C.F.R. § 22,19(f), and are‘ndt the basis for an extreme a
sanction such as default.

Complainant has complied with the prehearing exchange
order, albeit not within the time limit set therein. In addition,
'EPA filed a timely motion.to delay the preheéring exchange.

-It'has been held thaﬁ‘the sanction of dismissal should
not be imposed for failure to comply with a'pretrial production
order unless the fdilure is due to wilfulness, bad faith, or any
fault of thé'party. Salahuddin v. Harris, 782 F.2d 1127 (2nd Cir.
1986) .

Lackland has not alleged an abuse of discretion on the
part of the ALJT in denying its motion for default, and has not
shown that the issue involves an important quéstion of law or
policy upon which there are substant1a1 grounds for difference of
opinion. The motion for . certlflcatlon of this issue will be
denied.

| Similarly, no:basis is found for interlocutory appeal of

the ruling granting-Complainant's request to delay its prehearing
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~ éxchange. That'requeSt waé granted as a ﬁatter within the ALJ’s
discretion in order that matters at issue might befrésolved on
their merits and because it did not appear that Lackland would
théreby be prejudiced. See Rule 22;07(b). See also, In re Michael
C. Saéd. d/b/a/ Sadd Laundry and ﬁ;x Cieaning Services, Docket No.
RCRA-09-90-002 (Order, August 29, 1991).(1ate filing of prehearing
exchange\accépted, notwithstanding the facﬁ»respondent had nbt'
demonstrated that its failure to timely mo&e for an extension

pursuant to Rule 22.07(b) was the result of excusable neglect).

2. Motion to Strike (Part IIi of Order)

Complainant’s motion to strike Lackland’s affirmative
defenses was denied in principal part, but was éranted with respect
to defenses numbered 2, 3, 4, 10, 12, and.13. Without elaboratioh,
other than éitation of its cross-motion for accelerated decision
and motion to dismiss, Lackland simply asserts that the latter
rulings deny it the fair proceeding épecified by the Rules of
Practice, § 22.04(c). That provision states, in part: "The
Preéiding Officer shall conduct a fair and impartial proceeding,

'éssure that all facts are fully elicited, adjudicate ali issues,
and avoid delay." There is no baéis upon which to find that
Lackland is, or will be, denied a fair and impartial hearing or
proceeding. _ |

Lackland has had a full opportunity to present facts and
arguments in opposition to the motion to strike. These arguments

were\fully and carefully considered in the May 12 order. Lackland
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has not requested or.specifiéd any discovery necessary to‘support
'its position as to these défensés.

In defense number.2, Lackland argued that EPA’s failure
to allow it to consult with the Administrator, and the AgencY%b
‘failure to promulgate fegﬁlations.providing\for such consultation,
prior to issuance of the order at issue,'Violated § 6001(b)(2) of
the Federal Facilities Compliance Act, which is an amendment to
RCRA (42 U.S.C. § 6961). 1In a notice and,proposé_d rule published
in the Federal Register, howeﬁer, EPA gave notice that it
interpreted the cited section to require consultation only after
the completion of all administrative proceedings, including an
appeal to: the EAB. 58 Fed,vReg. 49044 (September 12, 1993); 60
Fed. Reg. 15208 (March 22, 1995). This interpretation is supported
by the language of § 6001(b)(2): "[n]o admihistrative order issued
to such a department, agency, or instrumentally shall become final
until such department, .agency, or instrumentality has had ”the
opportunity to confer with the Administrator”. (emphasis added)
Lackland has not advanced any rationale ﬁhich would support a
contrary conclusion.or a finding that the Agency's interptetation
of the section was not pérmissible.

In its third defense, Lacklénd claimed that EPA had
_faiied to furnish a notice qf_appafent deficiency in its Part A
permit application, as fequired by 40 C.F.R. § 270.70(b); This
. defense was »struck on twq grounds: .First, the 'Sta‘t.e agency,. jI‘WC,
notified Lackland of deficiéncies in itS‘ParpbA and Part B RCRA

permit applications. Second, the violation'at;iésde was not based
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. upon suqh'deficiencies, but was based upon failure to submit timely
notification of hazardous waste activity under section 3010(a) of
RCRA and Part A of the permit .application prior to the date it
began operating. Lackland has not provided any ‘reason 6r argunent
which would support cerﬁificatioﬁ of this issﬁe, |

“Failure to state a claimr(upon which relief may be
grantedﬂfwés’the asserted basis for defense nuﬁber 4. Lackland's
chief arguﬁent ﬁas that the complaint did not contain an adequate
statement‘ofvthe reasoning behind the proposed penalty, as required
by Rule 22,14(a)(5). Because the alleged defects were curable [by.
a motion far a more definite statement or by discovefy] and becaﬁse
dismissal for'such‘reasons would, of neceséity, have permitted
leave to amend, it was concluded that dismissal was not warranted
under the circumstances. Lackland has not demonstréted fhat there
is a substantial basis for difference of opinion as to the validify
- of this ru;ing.

Defense number 10 allegea noncompliance with the
Paperwork Reduction Act (PRA). The PRA prohibits an agency froﬁ
subjecting a person to any penalty for failing to maintain or
provide information to an ageﬁcy where ah information collectioh
request promulgated by the agency does not comply with the PRA.
Opposing Complainant’s motion to strike, Lackland merely argued
that it'should have the opporfunity for discovery bn this defense,
and that it relates to the penalty and as\such should not be
stricken. A succéssful PRA defense; however, precludes an égency

;from subjecting a person to any penaltyﬁfor failing to maintain or

o
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provide information to the agency. 44 U.S.C. § 3512. a finding
that the PRA does not apply, as in the present case, does not
affect the penalty amount. _Therefore,lthe issué is appropriate to
address on dispositive motions as to liability, i.e. motions to
dismiss and for acceierated aecision, rather‘ than in the
calculation of the ' penalty. In the May 12 order, it was noted
that the complaint alleged violations of a stafﬁtory provision and
“a state regulation, not a regulation promulgated by EPA. It was
concluded that the,dutyftq obtain a RCRA permit is statutory , and
thus that the PRA was inapplicable. Lackland has not supplied any
érgumenf 6r authority to ﬁhe contrary.‘ Moreover, Lackland has not
demoﬁstrated that discovery is neceSsary regarding defgnse'number
10, hof hés it specifically described the discovery sought.

In defenses 12 and 13, Lackiand érgued that.EPA excéeded
‘its authority in attemptiﬁg’ to enforce }portions of the state
hazardous waste program, and that EPA has no authority to enforce
the state program, because the Texas Water Commission (TWC) and its
successor responsibly administered-the hazardods waste'program._As
noted in the May 12 order, the Final Rule by which Texas was
\authorized'to operate'its hazardous waste program prbvides that EPA
retains the right to take énforcement actions under section 3008 of
RCRA. 49 Fed. Reg. 48300,_48305 (Décember 12, 1984). Sectioh
3008(a) (2) of RCRA authorizes EPA to bring enforcement actions in
states which have EPA-approved hazardéus waste programs, the only
e#presé condition being that notice must be>given to the state in

which the violation occurred prior to initiating such action.
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In defense number 12,-Lack1and argued that, beCause_EPA
had not ihcorpor;ted the Texas hazardous waste prdgram into 40
C.F.R. Part 272 “Approved §State Hazardous Waste ,Managément
Programs”, and indeed had expressly declined to do so (59 Fed.:Reg.
1723, April 12, 1994), EPA lackéd the authority to enforce the
Texaé program. As pointed out in the May 12 order, however, there
is no.indicafion thét such incorporation is, or Qas intended to be,.
a condition precedent to EPA's ability to enforde a statéé.program,
and the reservation of the Agency's riqht in that respect in the
notice of approéal of the Texas program. refutes aﬁy “such’
contention. _While‘Léckland% afgument appears to be one of first
impression, it has not cited any'language in the regulation or
preanmbles theréto or other authority which would support a finding
that there are substantial grounds for difference of opinion on
this issue. As.noted in the May 12 order, requirements of state
hazardous waste prbgrams which were not incorporated in_Pért 272.

have been enforced by EPA in final agency and federal court

decisiohs.‘ The motion for certification of these issues will be

"denied.

3. ﬁotions for Accelerated Decision and to Dismiss

Withfregafd to the rulings bn the cross motions for
acéelerated. decision and métion to..dismiss, Léckland- did not
specify any grounds to be relied upon on interlocutory appeal to
thé Board, but merely cifed‘ the motions and replies upon which

these rulings were based. Three principal issues were raised in
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those motions, hamely: (1) whether the explosives burned and/or
de;onated in the OB/OD unit were hazardous wastes, (2) whether
Lackland was authorized to éperate the unit uﬁdér interim status,
and (3) whethe£ Lackland is 1iab1e for a violation after enactment
of the Federal Facility Compliance Act (FFCA).

it was concluded as to the first issue that the military
explosives treated by Lackland are solid wastes in accordance with
the definition in'ééctioﬁ 1004 (27) of RCRA: "any . . . other
discarded material, .including solid, 1iquid, semisolid or contained
gaseous material resulting from industrial, commercial, mining, and
agridultural operaﬁions, ahd from commercial activities e e . WM
The fact that the.definition did not specifically inclﬁde "military
activities" was held not to preclude such activities being
encompassed by the definition. lAuthority’cited by Lackland was
found not to support a contrary interpfetation.

The explosives were further held to be reactive, i.e.
“capable of detonation or explosive reactiqﬁ if subjected to a
strong initiating source or if heated under gonfinemént," and thus
vhazardogs wastes. 40 C.F.R. § 261.23. Lackland has noﬁ shown any
substantial grounds for difference of opihion as to whether the
munitions and materials involved were hazardous wastes as defined
in the Act and regulaﬁion.

As to the second iséue, Lackland had filed a notification
of hazardous waste activity and Parts A and B of a hazardous waste
permit appliéatioh in 1990, and apparently believed it had interim

status authorization to operate the thermal treatment unit. The
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State agescy responsible for issuing hazardous waste permiﬁs was
apparently confused with respecf to whether Lackland’s facility
gualified_for interim status. Lackland, however, did not meet the
criteria for interim status in RCRA section 3005(e), specifically
to notify EPA of hazardous wastelactivity and to update Part A of
its permit application before operating the OB/OD unit. For these
reasons, the May 12 order concluded that Lackland did not have
interim status for its hazardous waste treatment unit. I ah»dnable
to find that this ruling involves an important question of law or
policy ﬁpon which)there are substantial grounds for difference of
opinion. _

As to the third issue, 'Lackland was charged with
violating section 3005(a) of RCRA and of a State regulation which
prohibits any person from storing, treating or disposing of
hazardous waste without first having obtained a permit. 31 Texas
Administrative 'Code § 335.43(a). Lackland ceased treating
hazardous waste in the unit before'the_effective date of the FFCA
(October 6, 1992), thch authorized assessment of civil penalties
against federal facilities for‘Qiolations of RCRA. Pub.L. 102-386,
Title I, § 104, 106 Stat. 1507 (October 6, 1992), codified.42
U.S.C. § 6001. 1In 1990, Lackland filed a notification of hazardous
waste activity and Parts A and B of hazardous .waste permit
application, and was issued a hazardous waste permit for the uniﬁ
by the State of Texas in April 1993. Federal and.Texas regulations

require owners and operators of hazardous waste management units to

have permits "during the active life (including the closure period)
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of the unit." 40 C.F.R. § 270.1(c); 31 Texas Administrative Code
335.2(1). |

In the May 12 order, it was found that Lackland did not
comply with the'requirements for cloéure.of a hazardous waste site,
and never achieved interim status for the unit. Lackland was found
to have violated section 3005(a) of RCRA and section 335.43(a) of
the Stéte code continuously from the time it began treating the
hazardous waste until it receiﬁed the permit. It wés noted that no
penalties m&y be aséessed fof that portion of the violation which
preceded the effective date of the FFCA, but that each day of
violation after enactment of thevFFCA may be considered a separate
violation subject to the assessment of . penalties. Becausé a
hazardous waste mahagement unit ié considered fo be active until
final closure, Lackland may be subject to penalties for each day
that the unit was active after October 6, 19§2, until the permit
was issued. It is concluded that the fact that Texés officials
weré apparently confused as to whether Lackland's waste management
:unit was entitled to interim status and the other cirCumstancés,
including the fact that Lackland applied for pérmits and ceased
treating hazardous waste‘priof to the effective date of the FFCA,
are matters more appropriatély addressed in détermining a penalty
rathef than on interlocutofy'appeal. The motion for certification

on this issue will be denied.




14
ORDER
For the reasons stated "above, Lackland’s request for

certification of interlocutory appeal is denied.*

Dated this L( day of October 1995.

Spen T. Nissen .
Administrative Law Judge

*Absent a settlement of this matter, I will contact counsel
in the near future for the purpose of establlshlng a time and
location for a hearing..
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